I.  IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

 Robert Repin, through his attorney Adam P. Karp, petitions for review 

pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(1, 2, and 4). 

II.  COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

 Mr. Repin seeks reversal, in the entirety, of the attached Court of Appeals 

decision (Exh. A) and Order on Summary Judgment (Exh. B). 

III.  ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

 Did the Court of Appeals err in: 
 

1. Refusing to permit Mr. Repin to recover noneconomic damages arising 
from the reckless and material breach of a contract to euthanize a companion 
animal arising from a veterinarian-client-patient relationship? 

2. Refusing to permit Mr. Repin to recover noneconomic damages arising 
from the zone of danger rule? 

3. Dismissing Mr. Repin’s claim for outrage? 

4. Dismissing Mr. Repin’s claim for conversion/trespass to chattels?  

5. Dismissing Mr. Repin’s claim for lack of informed consent? 

IV.  STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

To conserve space, Mr. Repin refers this Court to the Court of Appeals’s 

factual summary recounted in the light most favorable to him. Slip op., at 2-10. 

He offers these highlights: 

Then three weeks of age, orphaned by a lactating mother struck on a rural 

highway, the pup should have died. Rescued by Mr. Repin’s niece, who nursed 

her to vigorous health, she instead was delivered to her uncle. This Alaskan 

Malamute began her life just as Mr. Repin entered his late 40s, single and with no 

biological children, living alone in a small cabin built by hand on the Blewett Pass 
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Highway. Mr. Repin thrived independently and by his own wits and skill as a gold 

prospector digging tunnels into the earth to find that elusive symbol of freedom – 

with Kaisa by his side for nearly twelve years. CP 337 ¶ 2. 

Only an exceptional few could hold their faces near hers, a closeness 

founded on unconditional trust. When veterinarians prodded, Kaisa acquiesced 

because Mr. Repin held her, stating, “It’s OK, baby, I’m here.” From the day she 

entered his life to the moment she died, Mr. Repin vowed to never betray her trust 

in him.  CP 337 ¶ 3. Mr. Repin knew that when her health began to falter, and the 

time came to give her peace, she deserved no less than euthanasia under the most 

respectful and humane circumstances possible.  

On Sept. 26, 2012, at his regular veterinarian’s recommendation, Mr. 

Repin traveled 200 miles from Cle Elum to Pullman to have Kaisa seen by Dr. 

Cohn-Urbach and staff at the WSU/CVM-Veterinary Teaching Hospital, to 

determine whether the time to let her go had come and, if so, to do so without 

disruption, fear, or suffering. Believing she only had a few weeks to live and that 

Kaisa would suffer, “rather than a few weeks of continual agony,” Mr. Repin 

signed a Consent for Euthanasia agreement and decided that it was the most 

humane thing he could do for her, at “the place where they are the best of the best 

at what they do.” CP 186 (25:1-7).  

WSU/CVM showcases “A gentle goodbye” video (CP 178), complete 

with a touching, 2012-posted, 3-minute video clip narrated by Kathy Ruby, 

Director of the Pet Loss Hotline. Ms. Ruby invites the public to learn more about 

the CVM and its pet loss/euthanasia services 
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https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=vYwTrBaBFRw  (accessed Apr. 20, 2017); 

see www.youtube.com/watch?v=Y_PMOGKtdnE for longer 11-minute version 

(accessed Apr. 20, 2017).  

Alerting her to the deeply emotional and delicate nature of the procedure 

to be performed, Mr. Repin cautioned Cohn-Urbach, “[I]f there are any papers 

that I need to sign, I want to do it now ahead of time.” He explained he “would 

not be able to afterwards.” CP 185 (24:20-23). Cohn-Urbach admits that once or 

twice, before attempted euthanasia, Mr. Repin expressed that Kaisa did not like 

being handled without him present. CP 207 (104:16-25). Indeed, when she first 

met Kaisa, Mr. Repin was in the back of the hospital with Kaisa, in an area where 

clients are not typically allowed – because he insisted on being with her and did 

not want to leave her side. CP 208 (105:1-10). Cohn-Urbach acknowledges that 

Mr. Repin spent a great deal of time reflecting on how best to proceed. Id., 208 

(105:15-17). 

Following her “reaction” to the first injection of Euthasol, there was no 

pause in Kaisa’s agony. CP 189-90 (39:22—41:1). If Mr. Repin lost his hold of 

Kaisa, she would have “chewed the shit out of [Cohn-Urbach and Ms. Feist], and 

maybe me.” CP 190 (42:1-13). He adds, “I was placed in imminent danger and 

fear that Kaisa might turn on me and cause grievous physical injury…. Her jaws 

were close enough to my neck or other appendages that in her panic she could 

have easily bitten me.” CP 338-39 ¶ 7. Exh. D (Repin Decl. and excerpt from 

Repin Dep.) After Kaisa died, in a sadly cold, dismissive, and unprofessional 

manner, Cohn-Urbach offered Mr. Repin a green, extra heavy duty Hefty trash 



4 
 

bag in which to place her, even though she was lying on her own personal 

blanket from home the entire time.  

Following Kaisa’s death, Mr. Repin had Kaisa exhumed by Carl Wigren, 

MD and Victoria Peterson, DVM, JD. As described in their reports, Kaisa’s 

limbs and heart blood were sent to Bruce Goldberger, Ph.D. at the University of 

Florida for testing of the concentration of pentobarbital and phenytoin in Kaisa at 

various locations. Dr. Goldberger opined, and Dr. Peterson joined in this opinion, 

that the Euthasol injected into the catheter went perivascular (i.e., outside the 

vein). CP 240-41 ¶ 13(f). 

Kaisa suffered “the worst possible way.” CP 191 (54:9). As a result, Mr. 

Repin endured exquisite and long-lasting mental anguish. He describes the 

impact extensively in deposition, including the change from being a nice, happy 

guy with a perfect life and no complaint in the world to a depressed, alcohol-

dependent insomniac who lost his girlfriend and friends and suffered from years 

of headaches and inappetence. CP 191-93 (56:13—58:14, 61:18—62:4).  

 On Jan. 8, 2016, Kittitas County Superior Court Judge Frances 

Chmelewski heard Defendants’ motion for summary judgment dismissal. While 

allowing a few claims to survive, she dismissed several causes of action and 

categorically eliminated the basis to recover any noneconomic damages. Exh. B 

(CP 390-93). The parties stipulated to discretionary review of the order, and the 

Court so certified. CP 394-96. On March 8, 2016, Commissioner Wasson 

granted discretionary review under RAP 2.3(b)(4), stemming from the question 

of whether Mr. Repin could recover noneconomic damages under Restatement 
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(2nd) Contracts § 353: 

This Court found no authority to support or disavow Mr. Repin’s 
thesis. Indeed, the issue may be one of first impression, not only in 
Washington, but throughout the United States. Therefore, as to this 
narrow issue, the certification for discretionary review is 
appropriate. Because the Court accepts discretionary review, the 
other issues raised in Mr. Repin’s motion are also accepted for 
review under principles of judicial economy. 
 

Exh. C, at 4. On March 21, 2017, Division III affirmed in a 3-0 opinion, with a 

concurrence from Chief Judge Fearing and another from Judge. 

V.  ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 

1. RAP 13.4(b)(1) – Conflict with Supreme Court Decision 

 Barr v. Interbay Citizens Bank, 96 Wn.2d 692, 700 (1981), states clearly 

that “nothing [is] stinted” in the “exceedingly liberal” rule of compensation, 

allowing recovery of “every actual loss, and some which frequently border on the 

imaginary.” While the State may want to belittle Mr. Repin’s experience and 

depreciate his damages by some nonexistent rule of legal insensitivity, the 

Washington Supreme Court has taken a decidedly different view, and this panel’s 

decision conflicts with Barr. 

 On the issue of outrage: The panel found that the allegations did not 

support a finding of outrageousness notwithstanding that the question of 

outrageousness is traditionally a question of fact, Robel v. Roundup Corp., 148 

Wn.2d 35, 64 (2002), and that several domestic and foreign appellate decisions, 

including Womack itself, recognize the delicate emotional connection endangered 

by injuring or killing a pet while pronouncing that animals are family and much 

more than mere property. See Fearing Conc., at 7-8.  



6 
 

 Womack v. von Rardon, 133 Wash.App. 254 (III, 2006), in examining a 

claim of outrage, did not hold that setting a cat named Max on fire was not 

outrageous. Rather, it affirmed dismissal because Womack could not prove that 

the defendants torched Max in order to cause her severe emotional distress and, 

further, due to insufficient evidence of severe emotional distress. Womack was 

not present when the young men doused Max in gasoline, yet this was not a basis 

for the court denying the claim. Womack is distinguishable from Mr. Repin’s case 

given the existence of a veterinarian-client-patient relationship, fiduciary 

relationship, contract for euthanasia, and Mr. Repin’s known emotional fragility 

related to the decision to end Kaisa’s pain. 

 Cohn-Urbach’s manner of killing Kaisa, in defiance of contractual 

promises to the contrary, is the type of “outrageous” conduct that “shocks the 

conscience.” Reasonable minds would certainly disagree with the contention that 

her conduct was not outrageous, if only based on RCW 16.52.205-.207, 

Washington’s animal cruelty code, guarding against unnecessary and unjustifiable 

infliction of pain and suffering to an animal.  

 After noting that only one case addressed outrage in the veterinary 

context, but finding it wanting (slip op., 25), the panel turns to highly inapposite 

decisions—concerning rude physicians, insensitive nursing home nurses, 

misleading statements by obstetricians, a psychologist who accused a patient of 

being a faker and raising his voice, a doctor who screamed at the top of his voice 

at a client concerning the presence of a service dog in the exam room, a head 

nurse at an emergency room who allegedly said “We do not like to deal with rape 
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victims,” interviewed rape victims in a public waiting room, and inferred that a 

minor lost her virginity by falling or riding a bike or horse rather than being a 

victim of rape—that do not at all resemble Mr. Repin’s experience. He contracted 

with Defendants to euthanize his dog in a peaceful, painless setting. Instead, his 

dear Kaisa was recklessly injected with a caustic substance, causing her extreme 

torment and fear, jeopardizing Mr. Repin’s personal safety and producing 

substantial and foreseeable emotional turmoil. Slip op., 25-26. The overwhelming 

majority of dog and cat owners who choose to be present for euthanasia would 

find this behavior outrageous, without a moment’s hesitation. WSU’s “A gentle 

goodbye” videos tacitly acknowledge this. 

 Jackson v. Peoples Federal Credit Union, 25 Wash.App. 81, 89 (II, 1979) 

cites approvingly to Restatement (2nd) Torts § 46 cmt. f, which provides that an 

actor’s conduct may be deemed outrageous because he is aware of the other 

person’s susceptibility to emotional distress due to a physical or mental condition. 

From his statements made at the time of signing the contract, to his insistence on 

being with Kaisa whenever possible, Defendants knew of Mr. Repin’s vulnerable 

nature and, amidst other argument and facts raised below, such factors strongly 

favor granting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). The panel erred denying Mr. Repin 

the right to have this factual question brought before a jury. 

 On the issue of zone of danger: The panel claimed, “Nevertheless, Repin 

presents no evidence of such fear [for his own physical safety].” Slip op., 19. This 

statement, however, ignores Mr. Repin’s December 27, 2015 declaration at Para. 

7 and his deposition at 42:6-9. CP 190, 338. It thus contradicts the holding of 
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Reynolds v. Hicks, 134 Wn.2d 491, 495 (1998), that the court should only grant 

summary judgment if no genuine issue of material fact exists after considering the 

evidence, including all reasonable inferences, in the light most favorable to the 

nonmoving party. Mr. Repin presented sufficient evidence to establish this claim 

to defeat summary judgment and the panel erred in finding otherwise. 

2. RAP 13.4(b)(2) – Split of Divisions 

 On the subject of emotional damages for contract breach: The panel 

quotes Hendrickson v. Tender Care Animal Hosp., Corp., 176 Wash.App. 757 (II, 

2013), which stated, at 767, “In fact, Hendrickson has failed to submit, and this 

court is not aware of, any Washington case applying the Restatement rule and 

creating a claim for emotional distress damages arising out of a contract action.” 

Slip op., 14-15. This position, however, taken by both Divisions, contradicts the 

holdings of Thomas v. French, 30 Wash.App. 811, 817 (III, 1981), rev. o.g., 99 

Wn.2d 95 (1983), and Cooperstein v. Van Natter, 26 Wash.App. 91, 99 (I, 1980), 

rev. den’d, 94 Wn.2d 1013 (1980), which remain good law, creating a basis for 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(2). 

 Thomas, at 814, acknowledged the cognizability of noneconomic damages 

relating to breach of contract for education at a cosmetology school. Cooperstein 

predated Thomas by a year and similarly found that emotional distress damages 

may be recovered for reckless breach of a real estate contract. In 1982, Division I 

again embraced Cooperstein in a residential Board’s refusal to swiftly remedy a 

water problem. Schwarzmann v. Association of Apartment Owners of 

Bridgehaven, 33 Wash. App. 397, 404 (I 1982) (citing Cooperstein). Although 
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Cooperstein and Schwarzmann did not find a reckless breach of contract under the 

evidence presented, both courts recognized that the cause of action was viable.  

Gaglidari “specifically disapproved” only that Thomas and Cooperstein 

adopted a standard that: 

goes beyond the Restatement by allowing emotional distress 
damages regardless of the type of contract involved whenever 
the breach was wanton or reckless and emotional distress was 
foreseeable from the outset. 
 

Id., at 445 (emphasis added). The sentence immediately prior assures the vitality 

of the Restatement by saying: 

Emotional damages are available under the original Restatement 
only when the type or character of the contract renders 
emotional suffering for reasons other than pecuniary loss 
foreseeable from the outset. 

 
Id. (emphasis added). Gaglidari did not reject the Restatement itself but any 

excesses taken by Thomas and Cooperstein in pronouncing a broader rule to 

award damages for emotional distress for any “ordinary breach of contract 

action.” Id., at 445. Though Gaglidari refused to apply Restatement remedies to 

breach of an employment contract, it did not disavow the Restatement.1 Were 

there such intention, it would not have needed to allude to the Restatement in 

explaining the refusal to expand the common law to the employment termination 

context: 

The quantum leap which the plaintiff urges us to take in 
explicating the common law is justified neither by the cases of 
other jurisdictions, the Restatement, Washington law, nor public 
policy in dealing with employment contracts. 

                                                 
1 Nor did Gaglidari state that “contracts of a personal nature” are “specifically disallowed.” 
Rather, the court distinguishes holdings from other States that do allow recovery in such instances 
and reasons that losing a job is fundamentally pecuniary, not personal. Id., at 440-41, 446-47. 
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Id., at 448 (emphasis added). To be clear, Mr. Repin does not ask this court to 

overreach. Rather, he seeks damages based on a type of contract and breach that 

are hardly ordinary, and which are occupationally and institutionally foreseeable. 

Accordingly, this Court’s ruling creates a split with Division I and disregards 

Division III’s earlier holding in Schwarzmann.  

 On the subject of conversion: Contrary to the panel’s assertion that 

“Washington courts have never applied those sections of Restatement (Second) of 

Torts addressing conversion,” (slip op., 32), Washington adopted Restatement 

(2nd) Torts § 227 in Burr v. Lane, 10 Wash.App. 661, 667 (I 1974).2 Its failure to 

apply § 227 to Mr. Repin’s case presents another basis for review under RAP 

13.4(b)(2). 

3. RAP 13.4(b)(4) – Substantial Public Importance 

 Issues of first impression that affect not only the parties at bar, but 

potentially thousands of other daily interactions throughout this State, warrant 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). State v. Watson, 155 Wn.2d 574, 577 (2005).  

Examples where the Court of Appeals has granted RAP 2.3(d)(3)3 review include 

Guillen v. Contreras, 147 Wash.App. 326, 330 (III, 2008)(first impression) and In 

re Estate of Haviland, 161 Wash.App. 851, 854 (I, 2011)(first impression). As 

                                                 
2 See Restatement (2nd) Torts § 226 (Exh. E) and Ill. 4 (conversion lies where A intentionally 
feeds poisonous weeds to B’s horse; where horse made ill for a few hours, but promptly recovers, 
trespass lies where horse is made ill for a month, both trespass and conversion lie). See also 
Restatement (2nd) Torts § 227 (Exh. E) and Ill. 4 (noting that conversion lies where A owns desk 
and lets B use it but with or without negligence on the part of B, the desk is seriously damaged by 
its use). 
 
3 RAP 2.3(d)(3) serves as a rough analog to RAP 13.4(b)(4). 
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each claim made by Mr. Repin arises from common law, this is the proper forum 

to address each. As Division I explained: 

Society changes and the common law must be reevaluated and 
retested from time to time by the judiciary to determine if the law 
on a particular subject has kept pace with conditions. The common 
law must be rational and compatible with present society if it is to 
be respected and upheld.  
 

Roth v. Bell, 24 Wash.App. 92, 100 (1979); see also RCW 4.04.010 and In re 

Parentage of L.B., 155 Wn.2d 679, 689 (2005) (construing RCW 4.04.010, in the 

absence of governing statutory provisions, to “endeavor to administer justice 

according to the promptings of reason and common sense, which are the cardinal 

principles of the common law”); Irwin v. Coluccio, 32 Wash.App. 510, 512 (I 

1982)(when rule of law originates in common law and is creature of courts, courts 

may change or modify such rule). In honoring the mandate of RCW 4.04.010, 

Division III did not just extend common animal law, but created an entirely new 

cause of action of malicious injury to a pet. Womack v. von Rardon, 133 

Wash.App. 254 (III 2006).  

 Perhaps the strongest arguments favoring review under RAP 13.4(b)(4) 

come from the panel itself, stating: 

 As to zone of danger: “Washington has never addressed the applicability 

of the zone of danger rule to a medical or veterinarian malpractice claim.” Slip 

op., 17. While acknowledging a national split, the panel adopts the reasoning of 

Texas, Connecticut, and Nebraska, while rejecting California and New Jersey, but 

does so without any direction from this court.  
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 As to conversion: “We must decide if a veterinarian commits a 

conversion in the civil law when the veterinarian engages in gross negligence 

during treatment of a companion animal or when the veterinarian disobeys 

instructions for care of the animal. We find no case law directly applicable.” Slip 

op., 29. “Washington courts have never applied those sections of Restatement 

(Second) of Torts addressing conversion, but both Robert Repin and WSU cite 

some of those sections.” Slip op., 32. 

 The unauthorized intermeddling with the property rights of Mr. Repin in 

Kaisa in a manner inconsistent with his express (and contracted) instructions 

amounts to an intentional tort, whether a conversion or a trespass to chattels.4 

Indeed, the act of using a damaged catheter and pompously admonishing Ms. 

Feist that she would “make it work” was an intentional act that proximately 

caused perivascular administration, tremendous pain, and deprived both Kaisa and 

Mr. Repin of the expected results of euthanasia.  

 Dispossession is not the only means of proving conversion. Other manners 

include destroying or altering a chattel (Restatement (2nd) Torts § 226), misusing a 

chattel in a manner that seriously violates the right of another to control its use 

(Id., § 227); and one who uses chattel in a manner exceeding authorization and 

seriously violates the other’s right of control (Id., § 228). The fundamental nature 

of this transaction was not just “to destroy the property in question,” but to do so 

according to Mr. Repin’s express authorization to do so in a manner that was 

humane and without undue pain and suffering according to sound veterinary 

principles. In other words, in failing to euthanize or humanely destroy, Cohn-
                                                 
4 Trespass to chattels is something less than a conversion. Restatement (2nd) Torts, § 217. 
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Urbach caused tremendous psychological damage and physical injury to Kaisa; 

mishandled Kaisa in a way that violated Mr. Repin’s right to control the manner 

of her death; and exceeded the authorization he had given to her. Conversion and 

trespass lie.   

 As noted above, Washington adopted Restatement (2nd) Torts § 227 in 

Burr v. Lane, 10 Wash.App. 661, 667 (I 1974). This court should apply § 227 

here and adopt Restatement (2nd) Torts §§ 226 and 228, as done in nearby 

jurisdictions.5 

 As to lack of informed consent: Though declining to apply lack of

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