NO. 94389-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ROBERT REPIN,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, et al.,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

JASON D. BROWN
Assistant Attorney General
WSBA #39366
Torts Division, OID: 91106
Office of the Attorney General
1116 W. Riverside Ave., Suite 100
Spokane, WA 99201
(509) 456-3123

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

IV. ARGUMENT

This Court grants discretionary review only when at least one of four issues are present:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Here, Mr. Repin argues the Court of Appeals’ decision is in conflict with decisions of this Court and published decisions by the Court of Appeals. *See* Petition for Review (Pet. Review) at 5-10. He also argues his petition involves an issue of substantial public interest. *See* Pet. Review

at 10-20. Mr. Repin is wrong on both assertions.

A. The Court Should Deny Mr. Repin's Petition for Review Where He Fails to Demonstrate Actual Conflict Between Division III's Decision Regarding the Availability Of Emotional Distress Damages and Prior Appellate Court Decisions

While Washington recognizes the importance of the human-animal bond, Washington also uniformly recognizes that for purposes of tort and contract law, pets are personal property. *See Mansour v. King County*, 131 Wn. App. 255, 267, 128 P.3d 1241 (2006); *Sherman v. Kissinger*, 146 Wn. App. 855, 870, 195 P.3d 539 (2008); *Hendrickson v. Tender Care Animal Hosp.*, 176 Wn. App. 757, 767, 312 P.3d 52 (2013). In Washington, a pet owner has no right to emotional distress damages for loss of the human-animal bond based on the negligent death or injury to a pet or for breach of a contract for veterinary services. *Hendrickson*, 176 Wn. App. at 762, 767; *Sherman*, 146 Wn. App. at 873. There is also no cause of action for negligent infliction of emotional distress or emotional distress suffered due to injury to a pet. *Pickford v. Mason*, 124 Wn. App. 257, 260, 98 P.3d 1232 (2004). *See also Womack v. Von Rardon*, 133 Wn. App. 254, 263, 135 P.3d 542 (2006).

Mr. Repin mistakenly takes a comment out of context from *Barr v. Interbay Citizens Bank of Tampa, Fla.*, 96 Wn.2d 692, 635 P.2d 441 (1981), in claiming that the opinion below creates a conflict between courts. Pet.

Review at 5. *Barr* involved a question of whether to apply the law of Florida or the law of Washington to the plaintiff's claim for punitive damages. *Id.* at 696. In holding that Washington law applied, *Barr* quotes *Spokane Truck & Dray Co. v. Hoefler*, 2 Wn. 45, 25 P. 1072 (1891), for the propositions cited by Mr. Repin. *Barr*, 96 Wn.2d at 700 (quoting *Hoefler*, 2 Wn. at 52-53). The *Hoefler* court rejected the plaintiff's claim for punitive damages, objecting to adding the criminal element of punishment into the civil system. *Hoefler*, 2 Wn. at 51-52. *Barr* does not deal with emotional distress damages. It does not address available remedies for the death of a pet. It does not conflict with Division III's decision.

Both concurring opinions recognize the law is well-settled. Judge Lawrence-Berrey states that "[c]urrent law that requires dismissal should not be judicially changed." *Repin*, 198 Wn. App. at 286 (Lawrence-Berrey, J., concurring). Likewise, Judge Fearing acknowledged that he is "bound by earlier Washington Supreme Court and Court of Appeals decisions to affirm denial to Robert Repin of emotional distress damages." *Id.* at 279-80 (Fearing, C.J., concurring). While Judge Fearing felt compelled to "advocate for a change in the law," *Id.*, his opinion offers no basis for this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) or (2) because it agreed that the law is well-settled and did not identify any conflict. And as shown

below, Mr. Repin's attempts to identify conflicts are fatally flawed. This Court should deny review on this ground.

B. The Court Should Deny Mr. Repin's Petition for Review Where His Emotional Distress Claim Fails to Present an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

There is no recognized cause of action in Washington for wrongful death of a dog. *Sherman*, 146 Wn. App. at 860 n.1. Although Mr. Repin does not couch his claim in terms of the wrongful death of Kaisa, he does seek emotional distress damages for damage to that relationship. *See* Pet. Review at 16-20. Chief Judge Fearing also couched his criticism of the law in terms of the human-animal bond:

I criticize current Washington law in that state law may impose a strict prohibition on a pet owner recovering emotional distress damages for loss of a human-animal bond based on the negligent death or injury to a pet.

Repin, 198 Wn. App. at 286 (Fearing, C.J., concurring). Mr. Repin's claims are no more than wrongful death claims repurposed as breach of contract or negligence claims.

"[C]ourts of this state have long and repeatedly held, causes of action for wrongful death are strictly a matter of legislative grace and are not recognized in the common law." *Philippides v. Bernard*, 151 Wn.2d 376, 390, 88 P.3d 939 (2004). Indeed, since the Legislature has created a comprehensive scheme governing who may recover for wrongful death and

survival, there is no room for this Court to act in that area. *See Windust v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 52 Wn.2d 33, 36, 323 P.2d 241 (1958) (“A legislative enactment, intended to be comprehensive upon a subject, pre-empts that field”).

The Legislature has made various, difficult policy decisions regarding who may recover for wrongful death, allowing spouses, domestic partners, children, and parents of minor children to sue for wrongful death. RCW 4.24.010, RCW 4.20.020. But it has also decided that there is no cause of action for other relationships, such as parents of adult children and siblings (except when financially dependent), grandparents, and dear friends. *See* RCW 4.20.020. Similarly, the Legislature did not create a cause of action to recover for the wrongful death of a companion animal. *See id.*

Importantly, in 2008, the Legislature considered, and failed to adopt, a cause of action for “wrongful injury or death of a companion animal.” *See* H.B. 2945, 60th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Wash. 2008). Chief Judge Fearing and Mr. Repin both invite this Court to accept review, because “the judiciary, without input from the Legislature, created the rule denying emotional distress damages for breach of veterinarian contracts.” *Repin*, 198 Wn. App. at 285. *See also* Pet. Review at 19-20. Chief Judge Fearing and Mr. Repin are mistaken. The Legislature has decreed who may recover for wrongful death. There is no gap for this Court to step in and fill.

“[T]he Legislature is the fundamental source for the definition of this state’s public policy and [the courts] must avoid stepping into the role of the Legislature by actively creating the public policy of Washington.” *Sedlacek v. Hills*, 145 Wn.2d 379, 390, 36 P.3d 1014 (2001). If there is to be a change in the public policy of this State to establish a cause of action for wrongful death of a dog, or to allow emotional distress damages for either negligent injury to a pet or breach of a bailment contract for veterinary services, it is a question for the Legislature. *See Sherman*, 146 Wn. App. at 860 n.1; *Hendrickson*, 176 Wn. App. at 767; *Pickford*, 124 Wn. App. at 263. “An argument for the adoption of a previously unrecognized public policy under Washington law is better addressed to the Legislature.” *Sedlacek*, 145 Wn.2d at 390. Judge Lawrence-Berrey recognized that the courts should defer to the Legislature to weigh the benefits and costs of public policy. *Repin*, 198 Wn. App. at 287 (Lawrence-Berrey, J., concurring). This Court should also recognize the questions presented for review are within the Legislature’s purview and decline to accept review.³

³ Mr. Repin also claims review is proper because the Court of Appeals misread the record regarding his “zone of danger” claim and adopted the majority view of other states. The State disputes Mr. Repin’s claim that the record supports a “zone of danger” claim, but in any event he shows no conflict with precedent, nor an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. Review at 7-8, 11. This Court should deny review.

C. The Court Should Deny Mr. Repin's Petition for Review Where He Fails to Demonstrate Actual Conflict Between Division III's Decision and Prior Appellate Court Decisions Regarding Application of Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 353

In general, a plaintiff cannot recover emotional distress damages for breach of contract. *Restatement (Second) of Contracts* § 353; *Gaglidari v. Denny's Restaurants, Inc.*, 117 Wn.2d 426, 440-48, 815 P.2d 1362 (1991).

The Restatement states:

Recovery for emotional disturbance will be excluded unless the breach also caused bodily harm or the contract or the breach is of such a kind that serious emotional disturbance was a particularly likely result.

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 353. In *Gaglidari*, the plaintiff brought a claim for breach of an employment contract for discharging her without complying with the terms of her employment handbook. *Gaglidari*, 117 Wn.2d at 430. The plaintiff sought emotional distress damages for the breach of the contract. *Id.* at 431. The court held it was error for the trial court to have awarded emotional distress damages based on breach of contract, stating: "We do not believe a change is warranted either on the basis of common law, the Restatement of Contracts, Washington precedent, or public policy." *Id.* at 440. Indeed, *Gaglidari* held that emotional distress damages are not recoverable for breach of an employment contract, stating:

The quantum leap which the plaintiff urges us to take in explicating the common law is justified neither by the cases of other jurisdictions, the Restatement, Washington law, nor

public policy in dealing with employment contracts. It was error for the trial court to allow plaintiff to seek emotional distress damages in this case.

Id. at 448.

The purpose of torts is “to protect citizens and their property by imposing a duty of reasonable care on others,” while the purpose of contracts is “to enforce expectations created by agreement.” *Berschauer/Phillips Const. Co. v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1*, 124 Wn.2d 816, 821, 881 P.2d 986 (1994). *Gaglidari* was concerned about the effect of § 353 on this distinction between tort and contract:

The impact of allowing emotional distress damages for breach of contract would indeed be enormous. It is easily predictable there would be a jury issue on emotional distress in nearly every employee discharge case and in fact nearly every breach of contract case. The contractual consensus of the parties will become secondary to an action in tort. This will represent a profound change in the law, the implication of which can be explained only by adverting to the “Law of Unintended Consequences.” If there is to be a change of the common law, we believe a more prudential approach would be for the Legislature to consider the matter prior to such a change occurring.

Gaglidari, 117 Wn.2d at 448. This concern was echoed in *Hendrickson*:

Thus, recognizing for the first time the existence of emotional distress damages for reckless breach of a bailment contract for veterinary services would constitute a significant change in the law.

Hendrickson, 176 Wn. App. at 767. Mr. Repin does not draw this Court’s attention to any Washington case that actually applies § 353 to create a

claim for emotional distress damages arising out of a contract action because there is no case that has done so.

Instead, Mr. Repin argues this Court should accept review because he claims that *Hendrickson* conflicts with *Thomas v. French*, 30 Wn. App. 811, 638 P.2d 613 (1981), and *Cooperstein v. Van Natter*, 26 Wn. App. 91, 611 P.2d 1332 (1980). *Thomas* and *Cooperstein* held that emotional distress damages were available when the breach of contract was intentional or reckless and the defendant had reason to know when the contract was made that a breach would cause mental suffering. *Thomas*, 30 Wn. App. at 817; *Cooperstein*, 26 Wn. App. at 99. However, *Gaglidari* held that *Thomas* and *Cooperstein* had interpreted the *Restatement* too broadly, stating:

[W]hile Washington case law has recognized that a breach of contract may also lead to a related tort claim, we have yet to erase the traditional distinction between tort and contract damages in order to award damages for emotional distress on an ordinary breach of contract action. Anything to the contrary in *Thomas* or *Cooperstein* is specifically disapproved.

Gaglidari, 117 Wn.2d at 445. Under *Gaglidari*, emotional distress damages may be available on a breach of contract claim where the type of contract renders emotional suffering foreseeable from the outset. *Id.* However, there is no Washington case (including *Thomas* and *Cooperstein*) that allows emotional distress damages for breach of the type of contract at issue here. Mr. Repin repeats the arguments disapproved of in *Gaglidari*, asking this

Court to overreach in urging acceptance of review based on a nonexistent conflict between *Hendrickson* and *Thomas/Cooperstein*. The consideration of whether to erase the distinction between tort and contract damages and allow emotional distress damages for breach of contract is a matter for the Legislature to consider. Review should be denied.

D. The Court Should Deny Mr. Repin's Petition for Review Where He Fails to Demonstrate Actual Conflict with Prior Appellate Decisions Regarding His Outrage Claim

To prevail on a claim of outrage, Mr. Repin must prove: (1) extreme and outrageous conduct; (2) intentional or reckless infliction of emotional distress; and (3) severe emotional distress on the part of the plaintiff. *Robel v. Roundup Corp.*, 148 Wn.2d 35, 51, 59 P.3d 611 (2002). *See also Womack*, 133 Wn. App. at 260-61. "The first element requires proof that the conduct was '*so outrageous in character, and so extreme in degree, as to go beyond all possible bounds of decency, and to be regarded as atrocious, and utterly intolerable in a civilized community.*'" *Robel*, 148 Wn.2d at 51 (quoting *Dicomes v. State*, 113 Wn.2d 612, 630, 782 P.2d 1002 (1989)) (emphasis in original). The level of outrageousness required is high and is not easy to meet. *Christian v. Tohmeh*, 191 Wn. App. 709, 736, 366 P.3d 16 (2015).

Although the three elements present fact questions for the jury, the first element only goes to the jury after the court "determine[s] if reasonable minds could differ on whether the conduct was sufficiently extreme to result

in liability.” *Robel*, 148 Wn.2d at 51 (quoting *Dicomes*, 113 Wn.2d at 630). The Court of Appeals acknowledged this distinction, stating that the elements of outrage are generally questions of fact, but that a trial court must make an initial determination as to whether the conduct is sufficiently outrageous to be decided by a jury. *Repin*, 198 Wn. App. at 266. Thus, the Court of Appeals opinion does not conflict with the statement in *Robel* that the elements of outrage are traditionally a question of fact, as suggested by Mr. Repin. *See* Pet. Review at 5. Mr. Repin also claims that the opinions relied on by the Court of Appeals are distinguishable from the present case. Pet. Review at 6-7. Even if true, the use of analogous, but distinguishable, cases does not create a conflict. Mr. Repin fails to show how the Court of Appeals’ decision regarding his outrage claim meets the RAP 13.4(b) criteria. Review should be denied.

E. The Court Should Deny Mr. Repin’s Petition for Review Where He Fails to Demonstrate Actual Conflict with Prior Appellate Decisions Regarding His Conversion Claim

Conversion is the unjustified, willful interference with a chattel which deprives a person entitled to the property of possession. *In re Marriage of Langham & Kolde*, 153 Wn.2d 553, 564, 106 P.3d 212 (2005). An essential element of conversion is the taking of possession, actual or constructive, of the chattel. *Martin v. Sikes*, 38 Wn.2d 274, 287, 229 P.2d 546 (1951). “One who would otherwise be liable for conversion . . . is not

liable to the extent the other has effectively consented to the interference with his rights.” *Michel v. Melgren*, 70 Wn. App. 373, 378, 853 P.2d 940 (1993). Here, the Court of Appeals emphasized: (1) Mr. Repin lay next to or held Kaisa during the euthanasia; (2) Dr. Cohn-Urbach never sought title of possession of Kaisa; (3) Mr. Repin never relinquished possession of Kaisa; and (4) Mr. Repin agreed to some care being given. *Repin*, 198 Wn. App. at 271. On these bases, the Court of Appeals held Mr. Repin could not make a prima facie case for conversion. *Id.*

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